NO. 69607-6-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

KENNETH KELLY,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Marla L. Zink Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

A. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

"No person shall be disturbed in his private affairs, or his home invaded, without authority of law." Const. art. I, § 7. This is the clear mandate of article I, section 7. Yet, the police violated this precept in several regards when they stopped the vehicle in which Kenneth Kelly was riding as pretext for a criminal investigation, asked Mr. Kelly for identification without an independent basis and seized evidence from the vehicle when the occupants were secured and not within reaching distance.

B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. In the absence of substantial evidence, the trial court erred in finding that Detective Robert Thomas and Detective Joshua Rurey "were working in full uniform and in a marked patrol car" because it fails to recognize the detectives' testimony that their vehicle bore surreptitious decals and the emergency lights were contained internally. CP 216 (Finding of Fact (FF) 1). In this regard, the trial court's additional reference to the patrol car as "marked" similarly should be modified. CP 217 (FF 5).

¹ A copy of the Written Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law on CrR 3.6 Motion to Suppress Physical, Oral or Identification Evidence are attached hereto as an appendix and can also be found at CP 216-20.

- 2. In the absence of substantial evidence, the trial court erred in finding that "While their emphasis was to investigating [sic] gang related criminal activity, both Detective Thomas and Detective Rurey were authorized to, and did, investigate violations of all laws including traffic laws" because it does not conform with the objective evidence that the detectives had issued one traffic citation in two years serving on the Gang Unit and is unsupported in the additional ways argued herein. CP 216 (FF 2).
- 3. In the absence of substantial evidence, the trial court erred in finding that "During the two years immediately preceding the stop of the car Kenneth Kelly was riding in on the night of February 26, 2012 while working in the Gang Unit, [the detectives] wrote approximately 2 citations into Seattle Municipal Court" because the evidence shows the detectives had issued only one citation prior to the one issued to the driver of the vehicle in which Mr. Kelly was riding. CP 216-17 (FF 3).
- 4. In the absence of substantial evidence, the trial court erred in finding that "It is a common practice of Detectives Rurey and Thomas while on patrol to run license plate numbers in their computer data base [sic] investigating possible violations of law such as outstanding warrants, stolen vehicle reports, and criminal traffic violations and

infractions irrespective of a car's suspected involvement in gang related criminal activity." CP 217 (FF 4). As argued herein, the evidence does not show the investigation of traffic violation was independent of any criminal investigation.

- 5. In the absence of substantial evidence, the trial court erred in finding that "At the time Detectives Rurey and Thomas decided to initiate a traffic stop of the black Mercedes, neither was engaged in an investigation of criminal activity related to the black Mercedes or its occupants separate and apart from the violation of RCW 46.12.101(6) and SMC 11.22.025. The decision to initiate the traffic stop was motivated by this violation and observation." CP 217 (FF 9).
- 6. In the absence of substantial evidence, the trial court erred in finding that "When the light turned green, Detectives Rurey and Thomas activated their emergency lights and stopped the black Mercedes for the traffic violation." CP 217 (FF 11).
- 7. In the absence of substantial evidence, the trial court erred in finding that "The driver rolled down the windows on the driver's side" as the video at Exhibit 2 (01:35 to 01:42) shows the driver's side door open fully to Detective Thomas. CP 218 (FF 14).

- 8. In the absence of substantial evidence, the trial court erred in finding that "Detective Thomas could see from his vantage point that the rear passengers were not wearing seatbelts in violation of RCW 46.61.688(3). Detective Rurey was able to make the same observation from his vantage point." CP 218 (FF 15).
- In the absence of substantial evidence, the trial court erred in entering finding of fact 19. CP 218.
- 10. In the absence of substantial evidence, the trial court erred in finding, "Once the back up [sic] officers arrived, Kelly was removed from the car and placed into handcuffs on the ground just outside the car. While officers were removing and handcuffing the other occupants, Detective Rurey removed the handgun from the car and secured it in his patrol car for officer safety purposes while they continued to investigate." CP 219 (FF 22).
- 11. In the absence of substantial evidence, the trial court erred in finding, "At the time Detective Rurey removed the handgun from the car, the occupants were not all handcuffed. While all the occupants were outside of the car, they were still within reach of the passenger compartment including Mr. Kelly who was on the ground just outside

the rear passenger side door where the handgun was located." CP 219 (FF 23).

- 12. The trial court erred in concluding, "The stop of the black Mercedes Benz WA Lic. # 715WHJ (the Car) by Detective Rurey and Detective Thomas was a lawful traffic stop." CP 219 (Conclusion of Law (CL) 1).
- 13. The trial court erred in concluding, "Neither Detective Rurey nor Detective Thomas used the traffic law violations as a pretext to stop the Car for an unrelated criminal investigation or purpose." CP 219 (CL 2).
- 14. The trial court erred in concluding, "Detective Rurey's and Detective Thomas's conduct once the Car [sic] was stopped did not exceed the permissible scope of the lawful traffic stop." CP 219 (CL 3).
- 15. The trial court erred in concluding, "The observation of the detectives that the rear seat passengers were not wearing seatbelts established a lawful basis for the officers to request identification from the rear seat passengers." CP 220 (CL 6).
- 16. The trial court erred in concluding, "The fact that the driver of the Car did not possess a valid driver's license provided another

lawful basis to ask the passengers in the Car for identification." CP 220 (CL 7).

- 17. The trial court erred in concluding, "Irrespective of the basis for the request for identification of the rear passengers in the Car, the seizure of the gun was lawful." CP 220 (CL 8).
- 18. The trial court erred in concluding, "The gun was lawfully seized for officer safety purposes." CP 220 (CL 10).
- 19. The trial court erred in concluding, "The defendant's motion to suppress the gun is denied." CP 220 (CL 11).
- 20. The trial court erred in concluding that the evidence obtained from the traffic stop should not be suppressed due to the pretextual nature of the stop.
- The trial court erred in denying Mr. Kelly's motion to suppress. CP 220 (CL 11).
- 22. The incorporation of the trial court's oral findings was erroneous as not supported by substantial evidence. CP 220.
- 23. The incorporation of the trial court's oral conclusions of law was erroneous. CP 220.

C. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. Warrantless seizures are prohibited with a few jealously-guarded exceptions, including brief investigative stops based on a reasonable, articulable suspicion of criminal activity or a traffic infraction. If a traffic stop is effectuated for a speculative criminal investigation but a lawful reason, such as enforcement of the traffic code, is used to justify it, the stop is pretextual, the stop violates the Washington Constitution, and all resulting evidence must be suppressed. Where a review of the totality of the circumstances, including subjective and objective factors, demonstrates the traffic stop of the vehicle in which Mr. Kelly was traveling was actually motivated by intent to conduct a speculative criminal investigation, must the resulting evidence be suppressed?
- 2. A police officer may not ask vehicle passengers for identification without an independent, articulable suspicion of criminal activity. The detectives contend they suspected Mr. Kelly violated the requirement that passengers wear a safety belt while riding in a vehicle, but the detectives only observed Mr. Kelly once the vehicle was stopped and after they viewed movements from the passengers

consistent with removing a seatbelt. Was the request for identification from Mr. Kelly unlawful?

3. A warrantless search incident to arrest is unlawful unless the arrestee is unsecured and within reaching distance of the area searched. Where Mr. Kelly was secured in handcuffs, was under the control of several officers, and could not reach into the rear seat pocket, was the warrantless seizure of the gun from the seat pocket unlawful?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Just after midnight on February 26, 2012, Kenneth Kelly was one of three passengers in a black Mercedes driven by Kadeidre Rials. Exhibit 7; RP 14-15, 122, 139-40. Mr. Kelly was seated in the rear seat on the passenger (right) side. Exhibit 7; RP 140. Ms. Rials made a uturn near a surreptitiously-marked police vehicle occupied by Gang Patrol Unit Detectives Joshua Rurey and Robert Thomas. RP 13-16, 83-84, 114-15, 119, 121-24. Suspicions aroused by the u-turn, the detectives checked the license plate of the vehicle and learned that a sale had occurred but transfer of title had not been registered within 45 days. RP 24-28, 122-26. The detectives later testified Detective Thomas decided to stop the vehicle on that basis at that time. RP 28-30, 148. However, the detectives actually followed the vehicle for over

a mile and during several minutes without activating emergency lights or sirens or otherwise signaling the vehicle to stop. RP 29-37, 42, 127, 151-52. The vehicle drove for more than a mile through dark streets at a speed the detectives considered to be excessive, yet the detectives followed surreptitiously nonetheless. RP 29-37, 54-55, 128-32, 151-52; *see* Exhibit 2 at 00:00 to 01:00. The detectives eventually activated the emergency lights and the Mercedes pulled to the right and stopped. RP 36-39, 131-32; Exhibit 2 at 01:00 to 01:15. As the vehicle was stopping, the detectives noticed movement by the backseat passengers. RP 38-39, 130-31; CP 218 (FF 12).

Detective Thomas approached the driver and Detective Rurey approached the passenger's side. RP 40-42, 133; Exhibit 2 at 01:30 to 01:49. While Detective Thomas spoke with the driver, Detective Rurey opened the rear passenger door, where Mr. Kelly was sitting, turned on his flashlight and scanned the vehicle. RP 42-44, 50-52, 87-92, 136-38. Eventually, the detectives noticed the rear passengers were not wearing seatbelts and asked them to identify themselves. RP 88-91, 136, 152-53, 157, 159-60, 164. Mr. Kelly provided his full name and date of birth. RP 47-48. Almost four minutes after approaching the vehicle, Detective Rurey noticed what looked like the butt of a gun in the rear

seat pocket in front of Mr. Kelly. RP 49, 52-54, 141-42; Exhibit 2 at 05:10. The detectives drew their guns and called for backup. RP 52-54, 57-59, 141-43.

When two backup officers arrived, Mr. Kelly was removed from the vehicle, laid on the ground facing away from the vehicle and handcuffed. RP 59-61, 144; Exhibit 2 at 06:51 to 08:00; Exhibit 3 at 02:16 to 02:44. The other occupants were also secured and removed from the area around the Mercedes. *Id.*; Exhibit 3 at 02:16 to 04:00. After the occupants were handcuffed, Detective Rurey removed the gun from the vehicle. RP 61, 74, 91-92; Exhibit 3 at 02:16 to 04:00. Then, Mr. Kelly was then moved to the back of a patrol vehicle. RP 63; Exhibit 3 at 04:20 to 04:35. From the identification Mr. Kelly had provided, it was determined Mr. Kelly had a prior conviction that prevented him from possessing a firearm. RP 145.

The State charged Mr. Kelly with unlawful possession of a firearm. CP 1. Mr. Kelly moved to suppress the evidence obtained, arguing that the stop was pretextual and that the investigation of Mr. Kelly's identification and the search and seizure of the gun were unlawful. CP 30-151. The court denied the motion on all grounds and Mr. Kelly was convicted after a stipulated bench trial. CP 170, 208-20.

Additional facts are set forth in the relevant argument sections below.

E. ARGUMENT

- 1. Because the purported traffic stop was pretext for a criminal investigation, the evidence recovered should have been suppressed.
 - a. Pretextual seizures violate the Washington Constitution.

Under both the federal and state constitutions, warrantless searches and seizures are unreasonable per se unless an exception applies. *State v. Loewen*, 97 Wn.2d 562, 565, 647 P.2d 489 (1982); *State v. Lennon*, 94 Wn. App. 573, 579, 976 P.2d 121 (1999). However, article I, section 7 of the Washington Constitution more broadly protects the "private affairs" of each person than does the Fourth Amendment. Const. art. I, § 7; U.S. Const. amend. IV; *State v. Arreola*, 176 Wn.2d 284, 291, 290 P.3d 983 (2012). "Under article I,

² Article I, section 7 provides: "INVASION OF PRIVATE AFFAIRS OR HOME PROHIBITED. No person shall be disturbed in his private affairs, or his home invaded, without authority of law."

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides:

The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures, shall not be violated, and no Warrants shall issue, but upon probable cause, supported by Oath or affirmation, and particularly describing the place to be searched, and the persons or things to be seized.

section 7, the right to privacy is broad, and the circumstances under which that right may be disturbed are limited." *Arreola*, 176 Wn.2d at 291. Thus, "[w]arrantless disturbances of private affairs are subject to a high degree of scrutiny." *Id.* at 292.

A traffic stop made without a warrant is constitutional only if based upon at least a reasonable articulable suspicion of criminal activity or a traffic infraction, and only if reasonably limited in scope. *Arreola*, 176 Wn.2d at 292-93 (citing *State v. Ladson*, 138 Wn.2d 343, 350, 351-52, 979 P.2d 833 (1999) and RCW 46.61.021(2) among other authorities). "The use of traffic stops must remain limited and must not encroach upon the right to privacy except as is reasonably necessary to promote traffic safety and to protect the general welfare through the enforcement of traffic regulations." *Id.* at 293. A traffic stop must be justified at its inception and reasonably limited in scope "based on whatever reasonable suspicions legally justified the stop in the first place." *Id.* at 294.

Article I, section 7 prohibits law enforcement from conducting a traffic stop based on pretext. *E.g.*, *Ladson*, 138 Wn.2d at 358. "Pretext is, by definition, a false reason used to disguise a real motive." *Id.* at 359 n. 11 (quoting Patricia Leary & Stephanie Rae Williams, Toward a

State Constitutional Check on Police Discretion to Patrol the Fourth Amendment's Outer Frontier: A Subjective Test for Pretextual Seizures, 69 Temp. L. Rev. 1007, 1038 (1996)). "A pretextual traffic stop occurs when a police officer relies on some legal authorization as 'a mere pretext to dispense with [a] warrant when the true reason for the seizure is not exempt from the warrant requirements." *Arreola*, 176 Wn.2d at 294 (quoting *Ladson*, 138 Wn.2d at 358). In short, the "police are pulling over a citizen, not to enforce the traffic code, but to conduct a criminal investigation unrelated to the driving." *Ladson*, 138 Wn.2d at 349. This State's "constitution requires we look beyond the formal justification for the stop to the actual one." *Id.* at 353.

The traffic code is extensive and complicated and it is commonly accepted that it is both impossible and undesirable to fully enforce it. *Arreola*, 176 Wn.2d at 294; *Ladson*, 138 Wn.2d at 358 & n.10. "Virtually the entire driving population is in violation of some regulation as soon as they get in their cars, or shortly thereafter." *Ladson*, 138 Wn.2d at 358 n.10. Thus, traffic stops are ripe for being abused as the "legitimate" basis for a pretextual, warrantless seizure. The courts must ensure that the police exercise—but not abuse—

discretion in determining which traffic infractions require police attention and enforcement efforts. *See Arreola*, 176 Wn.2d at 294-95.

Washington courts look to a totality of the circumstances, including both the subjective intent of the officer and the objective reasonableness of his or her behavior to determine whether a traffic stop was pretextual. *Arreola*, 176 Wn.2d at 296-97; *Ladson*, 138 Wn.2d at 359. The objective review is aimed at rooting out cases where "police officers . . . simply misrepresent their reasons and motives for conducting traffic stops." *Arreola*, 176 Wn.2d at 297 (citing Samuel Walker, Taming the System 45-46 (1993) (which notes that imposition of the exclusionary rule led to an increase in the "number of officers claiming the defendant had dropped narcotics on the ground")).

The Washington Supreme Court's recent decision in *Arreola* supplemented this test in the case of mixed-motive traffic stops. A mixed-motive traffic stop is one "based on both legitimate and illegitimate grounds." *Arreola*, 176 Wn.2d at 297-98. In that case, the officer admitted he followed a vehicle that matched the description of a possible driving under the influence (DUI) in progress, did not observe any signs of DUI, but observed the vehicle had an altered exhaust in

violation of RCW 46.37.390. *Id.* at 288-89. At that point the officer pulled over the vehicle and seized the driver, observed signs of alcohol use, and discovered the driver had outstanding warrants, on which basis he arrested the driver. *Id.* The Supreme Court held that such a mixed-motive traffic stop is not unconstitutionally pretextual so long as the lawfully-based motive for the stop was actual, independent and conscious. *Id.* at 298-300. Both subjective intent and objective circumstances must be considered in determining whether there was an actual, independent and conscious legal basis for the stop in addition to the unconstitutional, pretextual basis. *Id.* at 300.

The State bears the heavy burden of proving the legality of a warrantless seizure by clear and convincing evidence. *State v. Doughty*, 170 Wn.2d 57, 62, 239 P.3d 573 (2010); *State v. Garvin*, 166 Wn.2d 242, 250, 207 P.3d 1266 (2009). An appellate court reviews the constitutionality of a warrantless stop de novo. *Arreola*, 176 Wn.2d at 291; *State v. Martinez*, 135 Wn. App. 174, 179, 143 P.3d 855 (2006). Findings of fact are reviewed for substantial evidence, which is "evidence sufficient to persuade a fair-minded, rational person of the truth of the finding." *State v. Montes-Malindas*, 144 Wn. App. 254, 259, 182 P.3d 999 (2008). In the event of a pretextual stop, all

subsequently obtained evidence from the stop must be suppressed. *Ladson*, 138 Wn.2d at 357.

b. A review of the totality of the circumstances demonstrates the traffic stop was pretextual.

Arguably, this case does not present the type of mixed-motive stop subject to *Arreola*'s actual, conscious and independent analysis. In *Arreola*, the officer admitted two bases for his traffic stop of the defendant: a constitutional basis and a non-constitutional motive. 176 Wn.2d at 289. Here on the other hand, the detectives admitted only a constitutional basis but the objective and subjective circumstances call into question whether that basis was the detectives' actual motive for initiating the stop. However, the Court need not determine the reach of *Arreola* here because an analysis of the totality of the circumstances demonstrates the traffic stop here was pretextual in violation of article I, section 7 either because the detectives' proffered basis was not actual, conscious and independent from the unlawful motive or because a general review of the objective and subjective reasons for the stop demonstrate pretext was the actual motive.

Although Detectives Thomas and Rurey testified they decided to stop the vehicle only upon suspicion of failure to register the vehicle under new ownership, this Court must look beyond the reason proffered by the detectives to determine whether it was the actual basis for the stop. Ladson, 138 Wn.2d at 353; Montes-Malindas, 144 Wn. App. at 260. "Pretext is no substitute for reason." Ladson, 138 Wn.2d at 356. In looking beyond the proffered basis for the stop, this Court's review must include both an objective and subjective review of the totality of the circumstances. Here, a review of the totality of the circumstances demonstrates the State did not prove the seizure was based upon suspected violation of the traffic code.

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