NO. 69607-6-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

KENNETH KELLY,

Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY

THE HONORABLE BRUCE HILYER

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

> JENNIFER P. JOSEPH Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 296-9650

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

C. ARGUMENT

THE TRAFFIC STOP WAS NOT PRETEXTUAL.

Kelly contends that the trial court should have suppressed the gun because police found it during an unconstitutional pretext seizure. Because the evidence establishes that the criminal traffic violation was the actual basis for the stop and the detectives'

conduct was objectively reasonable, the trial court correctly concluded that there was no pretext and admitted the evidence.

In reviewing the denial of a motion to suppress, the appellate court determines whether substantial evidence supports the trial court's factual findings and whether those findings support its conclusions of law. State v. Ross, 106 Wn. App. 876, 880, 26 P.3d 298 (2001). Unchallenged findings are verities on appeal. Id. Conclusions of law are reviewed de novo. Id.

Brief investigatory "Terry" stops are well-established exceptions to the general rule that warrantless seizures are unconstitutional. Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 30-31, 88 S. Ct. 1868, 20 L. Ed. 2d 889 (1968); State v. Gatewood, 163 Wn.2d 534, 539, 182 P.3d 426 (2008). A Terry stop is justified when an officer has specific and articulable facts that give rise to a reasonable suspicion that the person stopped is, or is about to be, engaged in criminal activity. State v. Kinzy, 141 Wn.2d 373, 384-85, 5 P.3d 668 (2000). A reasonable suspicion is the "substantial possibility that criminal conduct has occurred or is about to occur." State v. Kennedy, 107 Wn.2d 1, 6, 726 P.2d 445 (1986). "The reasonableness of the officer's suspicion is determined by the totality of the circumstances known to the officer at the inception of

the stop." <u>State v. Rowe</u>, 63 Wn. App. 750, 753, 822 P.2d 290 (1991). The totality of the circumstances includes factors such as the officer's training and experience, the location of the stop, the conduct of the person detained, the purpose of the stop, the amount of physical intrusion upon the suspect's liberty, and the length of time the suspect is detained. <u>State v. Acrey</u>, 148 Wn.2d 738, 747, 64 P.3d 594 (2003).

Under article I, section 7 of Washington's constitution, warrantless traffic stops are constitutional as investigative stops when they are justified at their inception by a reasonable, articulable suspicion of either criminal activity or a traffic infraction and reasonably limited in scope. State v. Arreola, 176 Wn.2d 284, 292-93, 294, 290 P.3d 983 (2012). But traffic stops used as a ruse to conduct an unrelated, speculative investigation are unconstitutional. Arreola, 176 Wn.2d at 294 (citing State v. Ladson, 138 Wn.2d 343, 358, 979 P.2d 833 (1999)). "A pretextual traffic stop occurs when a police officer relies on some legal authorization as 'a mere pretext to dispense with [a] warrant when the true reason for the seizure is not exempt from the warrant requirement.""

Id. To determine whether a given traffic stop is pretextual, courts "consider the totality of the circumstances, including both the

subjective intent of the officer as well as the objective reasonableness of the officer's behavior." <u>Ladson</u>, 138 Wn.2d at 359.

Courts have found pretext where the evidence shows that officers suspected non-traffic criminal activity, then followed a vehicle waiting for its driver to commit a traffic infraction that would justify a stop in order to investigate their unrelated suspicions. In Ladson, for example, gang unit detectives recognized driver Richard Fogle from an unsubstantiated street rumor that he was involved with drugs. 138 Wn.2d at 346. The detectives then "tailed" Fogle's car for several blocks and while it refueled before stopping the car on grounds that Fogle's license plate tabs had expired five days earlier. Id. Because the officers' suspicions about Fogle's reputed drug activity were the motivation for finding a legal reason to stop his car, our supreme court held that the stop was unconstitutional and evidence discovered thereafter was inadmissible. Id. at 360.

The record also showed the deliberate use of a pretextual traffic stop in <u>State v. Montes-Malindas</u>, where an officer noticed suspicious activity by occupants of a van in a parking lot. 144 Wn. App. 254, 257, 182 P.3d 999 (2008). The officer decided to

surveil the van and even moved to a place where he could do so unseen by the van occupants. Id. When the van left the parking lot, the officer followed, noting that the van's headlights were off despite the darkness. Id. Although the driver soon turned the lights on, the officer initiated a stop for the headlight infraction. Id. The officer admitted that the suspicious activity in the parking lot was on his mind when he decided to pull the van over, approach from the passenger side, and speak with the passengers before the driver. Id. at 261. Under these circumstances, Division Three of this Court held that the stop was unlawful. Id. at 262. Our courts have similarly found pretext in State v. Myers, 117 Wn. App. 93, 69 P.3d 367 (2003), where an officer who suspected that a driver's license was suspended stopped the car for improper lane changes in order to verify the driver's status, and in State v. DeSantiago, 97 Wn. App. 446, 983 P.2d 1173 (1999), where an officer watching a narcotics hot spot suspected that a driver had purchased drugs, followed the car for several blocks, and ultimately stopped the car for an improper turn.

In contrast, courts have found no pretext when the evidence indicates that an officer did not follow a vehicle *in order* to find an infraction, but instead observed an infraction, and thereafter

immediately pursued the offending car. In <u>State v. Nichols</u>, for example, a deputy sheriff observed a car cross double yellow lines and change lanes without signaling, and believed the driver was attempting to avoid driving in front of the patrol car. 161 Wn.2d 1, 4-5, 162 P.3d 1122 (2007). The deputy caught up to the vehicle, activated his lights, and eventually stopped the car. <u>Id.</u> at 5. Once stopped, the deputy ascertained that the driver's license was suspended and noticed that the passenger, Nichols, was not wearing a seatbelt. <u>Id.</u> Nichols was removed from the car, patted down for weapons, and eventually searched for drugs. <u>Id.</u> at 6.

On appeal, Nichols argued that his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to challenge the legality of the stop, which he maintained was a pretextual stop predicated on the deputy's belief that the driver was trying to avoid him. 121 Wn.2d at 7. Our supreme court rejected the claim, distinguishing cases like Ladson, DeSantiago, and Myers because "[i]n each of these cases officers suspected criminal activity and followed vehicles waiting for commission of a traffic infraction so the vehicle could be stopped."

Id. at 12. In contrast, the deputy in Nichols, who was on routine patrol, "immediately pursued the vehicle after he saw what he believed to be several infractions and activated his lights as soon

as he caught up with it." <u>Id.</u> There was "no evidence that [the deputy] followed the vehicle *because* he suspected the driver was trying to avoid him." <u>Id.</u> at 11 (emphasis in original). Because the record did not support a finding of pretext, Nichols's counsel was not deficient for failing to raise the issue. <u>Id.</u> at 15.

As in Nichols, there is no evidence in this case that the detectives were suspicious of the Mercedes before they noticed its U-turn and became aware of the title-transfer violation. Both detectives testified extensively about their motivation in stopping the Mercedes.⁶ Unlike Ladson, Montes-Malindas, Myers and DeSantiago, the officers were not investigating any other criminal activity and had no motive other than to contact the driver about the infraction. According to Detective Rurey, "When the car turned in front of us and we ran the plate, that was the reason [for the stop] right away, what happened in front of us. We had not been following it or observing the car in any way." RP 112-13. Similarly, Detective Thomas testified that he was not trying to follow the car to see if it would commit an infraction justifying a stop: "I already had the suspected crime, a failure [to] transfer title, which I intended to contact the vehicle for." RP 128. Because the evidence reveals no

⁶ <u>See</u> RP 26, 28, 29, 30-32, 81, 112-13, 124-25, 128.

subjective intent to stop the car for reasons other than enforcing the traffic code, there was no pretext. See also State v. Weber, 159 Wn. App. 779, 247 P.3d 782 (2011) (no pretext where patrol officer stopped car after observing driver enter road without stopping before entering crosswalk and then start speeding); State v. Gibson, 152 Wn. App. 945, 219 P.3d 945 (2009) (no pretext where police did not follow car, looking for a traffic infraction, but instead saw driver turn without signaling and immediately stopped him); State v. Hoang, 101 Wn. App. 732, 6 P.3d 602 (2000) (no pretext where patrol officer "did not follow Hoang hoping to find a legal reason to stop him," but immediately stopped a car after observing it turn without signaling).

Kelly contends that other facts nonetheless demonstrate pretext. Although he does not articulate what the detectives' alleged hidden motivation might have been, he points out that the detectives were not traffic officers on routine patrol, but gang unit detectives on overtime emphasis patrol. He argues that this status makes it improbable that they were *solely* interested in enforcing the title-transfer law when they decided to initiate a stop. But that is not what the law requires.

Even a stop that is primarily motivated by an interest in investigating suspected non-traffic criminal activity is not necessarily invalid. In <u>Arreola</u>, our supreme court held that such "mixed motive" stops are not unconstitutional "so long as the officer actually and consciously makes an appropriate and independent determination that addressing the suspected traffic infraction ... is reasonably necessary in furtherance of traffic safety and the general welfare." 176 Wn.2d at 298. Accordingly, there was no pretext in that case where an officer stopped a car for an altered muffler, even though the officer admitted that he was primarily motivated to investigate the driver for DUI. <u>Id.</u> at 300.

Thus, even if the detectives harbored some suspicion that the Mercedes was involved in gang or other criminal activity – a suggestion that is in no way supported by the record – this would simply make it a "mixed motive" traffic stop. Under <u>Arreola</u>, such a stop is constitutional as long as the title-transfer violation "for which the officer has a reasonable articulable suspicion, is an actual, conscious, and independent cause of the traffic stop." 176 Wn.2d at 297. As in <u>Arreola</u>, the detectives' testimony is sufficient to establish this fact. <u>See</u> 176 Wn.2d at 300 (citing officer's testimony

that he made a conscious decision to pull over the vehicle for the muffler violation).

Further, while the detectives' affiliation with the gang unit may be significant in the pretext analysis, it is not dispositive. DeSantiago, 97 Wn. App. at 452 (finding it immaterial that officer was patrol officer and not a narcotics detective as in <u>Ladson</u>); Myers, 117 Wn. App. at 97 (whether an officer was on routine patrol is not dispositive). Here, both detectives explained that their gang unit assignment does not preclude other law enforcement duties. Detective Rurey testified that it was important for them to be familiar with traffic laws because they are "still responsible for enforcing the laws." RP 17. He explained that their duties as gang unit detectives are varied, and include making traffic stops. RP 13-14. Although gang activity is their primary focus, "we can't just let other crimes that, say, aren't gang related happen in front of us and just ignore them. You know, we still have the duty and responsibility to act upon that." RP 14. Detective Rurey agreed on cross examination that, though they do not always stop for minor infractions, they try to make a traffic stop if they are "able" at the moment. RP 81. Similarly, Detective Thomas indicated that he commonly makes traffic stops when he is not busy with more

pressing matters. RP 148. The fact that gang unit detectives do not take every opportunity to enforce the traffic code does not make their every traffic stop a pretext. See Arreola, 176 Wn.2d at 289 (although officer did not always stop cars with altered mufflers, he would often initiate a stop "if already on the road and behind such a vehicle, so long as conducting the stop would not hinder a more pressing investigation").

Kelly also argues that evidence that the detectives seldom issue traffic citations since joining the gang unit "renders it highly unlikely that they consciously and actually determined that on February 26 they would be issuing their second citation" and presumably more likely that they stopped the car as a pretext. Brief of Appellant at 21. But the detectives both testified at length about the precipitous drop off in citations since joining the gang unit.

Detective Rurey explained that he is "just not on the street as

⁷ Kelly claims that "Detective Rurey admitted traffic code enforcement was not an independent basis for stopping vehicles like the one in which Mr. Kelly was travelling." Brief of Appellant at 22. That is not so. Rurey testified that he tries to make stops if he is able, but it would be "impossible" to stop every driver he observes committing a minor traffic infraction. RP 81. That does not establish, as Kelly contends, that Rurey's "actual motivation for stopping this vehicle *must have* extended beyond simply the traffic violation for which he does not regularly stop vehicles." Brief of Appellant at 23 (emphasis added).

much as I was when I was in patrol," and that even when he stops cars for traffic violations, "I find that ... a good citizen contact with somebody and giving someone a warning is frequently better than issuing them a citation." RP 106-10. Moreover, in determining whether a particular stop was pretextual, it is the officer's conduct on that occasion, and not his history, that is pertinent. Montes-Malindas, 144 Wn. App. at 262 (court's response to evidence of an officer's historic treatment of cars committing the same infraction is "so what?' What is significant is what [the officer] did in this case") (quoting Myers, 117 Wn. App. at 97). In this case, Detective Rurey testified that they decided to stop the car because "if we could ... contact this person and inform them about the issue with the registration, give them a warning or ... investigate it appropriately, we should[.]" RP 30. Whether the detectives actually intended to cite the driver is immaterial.

Kelly also argues that the fact that the detectives did not immediately activate their lights and sirens to stop the Mercedes, and instead "snuck up on the vehicle at issue" indicates that that the detectives were looking to discover other criminal activity. Brief

of Appellant at 17-20. He cites <u>Nichols</u> for the proposition that whether an officer "immediately pursued the vehicle and activated his lights" is relevant to determining pretext. Brief of Appellant at 17-18 (citing <u>Nichols</u>, 161 Wn.2d at 10-11). In fact, the <u>Nichols</u> court observed that the officer "immediately pursued the vehicle and activated his lights as soon as he caught up with it." 161 Wn.2d at 11 (emphasis added). That is exactly what happened here.

In this case, the detectives began pursuit immediately upon discovering the title-transfer violation. The delay between the discovery of the violation and the stop was only three minutes, during which time the detectives were simply attempting to catch up to the speeding car. RP 28-29, 32-34, 126-29. The Mercedes was already turning onto another road and out of the detectives' view by the time Detective Thomas turned the patrol car around to make the traffic stop. The car continued speeding, failed to stop at a stop sign, and proceeded down a winding, hilly road at a high rate of speed, such that the detectives temporarily lost sight of the car.

RP 28, 35-36, 128. It was not until the car stopped at a traffic light that the detectives caught up to it, and as soon as the light turned green, Detective Thomas activated the lights and conducted the stop.⁸ RP 36, 130-31.

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